RECEIVED

Nov 15 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Jasper County

Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

OSMAN UVALDO JIMENEZ BENITEZ,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001500

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN RICHARD STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether Appellant's fundamental right to a speedy trial was violated where Appellant was held for over two years in pre-trial incarceration without bond before his case was brought to trial, where Appellant did not contribute to the delay, and where he was prejudiced due to pretrial incarceration, anxiety, and the loss of potential witnesses in the interim?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Osman Uvaldo Jimenez-Benitez was arrested on November 1, 2019, for the offense of hit and run with death resulting. His case was true billed by the Jasper County Grand Jury on December 2, 2021. R. 579-580; R. 575; R. 576-578. Appellant's case was called for trial before the Honorable Bentley Price and a jury on December 6, 2021. R. 12. He was ultimately found guilty, and the trial court imposed a sentence of four (4) years with credit for 760 days of time served. R. 551, ll. 1-11; R. 563, ll. 4-7; R. 581-582.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was arrested for hit and run with death resulting on November 1, 2019, for which he was denied bond.¹ R. 63, ll. 1-5; R. 575; R. 576-578. Counsel for Appellant (Counsel) subsequently filed a motion for bond, and it was again denied on February 11, 2021. R. 576-578. Further, Appellant rejected the State's offer to plead to the charged offense on February 23, 2021, and instead requested trial. R. 7, ll. 12-20; R. 576-578. Even after a scheduling conference in June 2021, Appellant's case was still not scheduled for resolution until November 1, 2021, yet the State had failed to even indict Appellant by that point. R. 7, ln. 21—R. 8, ln. 10; R. 63, ll. 10-17; R. 576-578. As a result, Counsel sought dismissal for violation of Appellant's speedy trial rights before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen on November 4, 2021.²

During the hearing before Judge Mullen, Counsel informed the court of the procedural history, and discussed factors relevant to Appellant's motion to dismiss for violation of his speedy trial rights. R. 7, ln. 9—R. 9, ln. 20. The State acknowledged the age of Appellant's case, as well as the facts that the case was neither indicted nor placed on the trial docket. R. 4, ll. 12-17; R. 11-12. Despite Counsel's request for dismissal, the court ruled as follows: "I will do this. I will continue to deny his bond. He is a flight risk. We will put it on the December 6 trial docket." R. 10, ll. 16-18. Further, when Counsel sought to "make a motion on the record for a speedy trial," the court told Counsel, "Yes. I don't think you need to go through the factors. I

¹ According to Counsel, the basis of denial for Appellant's bond was that an immigration hold was placed on him. R. 63, ll. 4-9.

² Based upon the hearing transcript, there is an apparent discrepancy regarding the date of Appellant's hearing. Page 1 indicates it was held "November 4, 2021," while page 4 indicates "Thursday, November 21, 2021." R. 565; R. 567, ll. 2-17. Appellant respectfully submits that the hearing occurred Thursday, November 4, 2021, and that the latter date was likely a scrivener's error (especially since November 21, 2021 was a Sunday, whereas November 4, 2021 was indeed a Thursday). Regardless of whether it was November 4th or November 21st, it is clear the matter was heard prior to Appellant's charge being submitted to the Grand Jury for consideration.

will grant your motion for a speedy trial at this time.” R. 11, ll. 1-5. However, Appellant’s case was not dismissed; rather, pursuant to Judge Mullen’s ruling immediately beforehand, it was merely rescheduled for the term of December 6, 2021.

During pretrial hearings before the trial court the week of December 6, 2021, Counsel again argued *inter alia* that the charge against Appellant should be dismissed due to violation of his speedy trial right pursuant to state and federal law. R. 62, ln. 17—R. 67, ln. 12; R. 575; R. 576-578. Specifically, Counsel asserted Appellant had been held in pretrial incarceration since his arrest on November 1, 2019, without bond—a period of over 750 days. Counsel further argued the reason for delay should not be deemed mere negligence. Specifically, Counsel highlighted the facts that no new evidence had been gleaned in the case, yet the State waited until the week prior to trial to even present the matter to the grand jury for indictment even though the grand jury had met in at least 12 months over the past two years. R. 63, ln. 1—R. 64, ln. 11; R. 576-578. Additionally, Appellant had neither sought nor consented to a continuance in the matter, and instead demanded a jury trial when he rejected the State’s plea offer on February 23, 2021. R. 64, ln. 24—R. 65, ln. 12; R. 576-578. Finally, Counsel argued that Appellant was prejudiced in the following ways: that he has been held in jail for the entire pretrial time period despite the presumption of innocence; that, as a result of his life being put on hold, he could no longer support his wife and child; his wife and child left the country; that he has experienced extreme anxiety and damage to his reputation as he sat in jail for an indeterminate amount of time despite an order from the court to try the matter; and that “[t]here are witnesses in this case that are no longer available, that they’ve left the country” and are unable to be located. R. 65, ln. 13—R. 66, ln. 8; R. 576-578.

The State agreed that Appellant had been held in custody since his arrest,³ but claimed there had been “a couple other prosecutors on it, as is the case a lot of times.” R. 66, ll. 20-23. The State further acknowledged that the matter was only indicted the week prior to trial, but claimed “a lot of circuits wait until the last minute to indict everything before they go to trial, so that’s not actually out of the ordinary.” R. 66, ln. 23—R. 67, ln. 1.⁴ Further, both Counsel and the State acknowledged that Appellant’s speedy trial motion was previously raised before Judge Mullen in November, wherein the court simply scheduled the case for trial without dismissing it; however, as the State acknowledged, the defense “might need to put it on the record again.” R. 66, ll. 14-20; R. 67, ll. 12-21. The trial court denied Appellant’s motion. R. 67, ll. 11-12.

During his trial, Appellant called no witnesses to testify before the jury in his defense. R. 493, ll. 17-18; R. 506, ll. 2-15. Appellant was found guilty of hit and run with death resulting, and the trial court sentenced him to four (4) years incarceration, with credit for 760 days of time served. R. 551, ll. 1-11; R. 563, ll. 4-7.

At Appellant’s post-trial motions hearing for a new trial on February 18, 2022, Counsel again reraised her prior motions on behalf of Appellant, including the issue of violation of his speedy trial right. The trial court again denied the motion. R. 568, ln. 21—R. 569 ln.1; R. 570, ll. 4-5. This appeal follows.

³ Specifically, the State conceded that “[y]es, it was—he has been in custody for this amount of time.” R. 66, ll. 20-21.

⁴ The State relied upon this refrain in its argument before Judge Mullen as well. R. 9, ll. 22-23.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The trial court’s ruling on a motion for speedy trial is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.” State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 342, 794 S.E.2d 368, 371 (citing State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 442, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the court’s decision is based on an error of law or upon factual findings that are without evidentiary support.” Id. 418 S.C. at 342, 794 S.E.2d at 372.

ARGUMENT

Appellant's fundamental right to a speedy trial was violated where Appellant was held for over two years in pre-trial incarceration without bond before his case was brought to trial, where Appellant did not contribute to the delay, and where he was prejudiced due to pretrial incarceration, anxiety, and the loss of potential witnesses in the interim.

Appellant's fundamental constitutional right to a speedy trial was violated both at Appellant's hearing November 4, 2021, and again during pretrial motions December 6, 2021. First, after hearing and granting Counsel's motion for speedy trial, the hearing court failed to apply the appropriate remedy of dismissal. Instead, the hearing court failed to apply the four factors necessary for analyzing a speedy trial violation, and even when it claimed to have granted Appellant's motion for a speedy trial the court simply rescheduled the matter for another trial date. Further, when the matter was placed before the trial court, that court too failed to consider the four factors necessary for analyzing a speedy trial violation claim, and instead summarily denied the motion. Accordingly, the hearing court erred as it failed to apply the prescribed remedy of dismissal, and trial court's ruling was erroneous as it is without evidentiary support and likewise failed to apply the proper remedy.

Both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution protect the fundamental right of a defendant to a speedy trial. See U.S. Const. amend. VI ("In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial."); S.C. Const. art. I, § 14 ("Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial."). "An accused's speedy trial right begins when he is indicted, arrested, or otherwise officially accused." Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 342, 794 S.E.2d at 372 (quoting Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482) (internal quotations omitted). "A defendant has no duty to bring himself to trial; the State has that duty as well as the duty of insuring that the trial is consistent with due process." Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 527, 92 S.Ct. 2190, 2193, 33 L.Ed2d 101 (1972).

“The remedy for a speedy trial violation is dismissal of the charges.” Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 342, 794 S.E.2d at 371 (citing Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482).

“[T]o trigger a speedy trial analysis, an accused must allege that the interval between accusation and trial has crossed the threshold dividing ordinary from “presumptively prejudicial” delay.” Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 654, 112 S.Ct. 2686, 2692, 120 L.Ed.2d 520 (1992) (citing Barker, 407 U.S. at 530-31, 92 S.Ct. at 2192). See also Langford, 400 S.C. at 442-443 (holding a twenty-three-month delay was presumptively prejudicial); Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 344-45, 794 S.E.2d at 373 (holding that a thirty-six-month was presumptively prejudicial); State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 108, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978) (holding a twenty-eight-month delay triggered a speedy trial analysis). “A balancing test necessarily compels courts to approach speedy trial cases on an ad hoc basis.” Barker, 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S.Ct. at 2192. Four factors identified by the courts in analyzing a speedy trial violation claim include the following: (1) length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant’s assertion of his right; and (3) prejudice to the defendant. Barker, 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S.Ct. at 2192; Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 343, 794 S.E.2d at 372.

The facts of the present case readily meet the threshold for triggering a speedy trial analysis. Appellant was held without bond for over two years. He was arrested on November 1, 2019, and denied bond the next day. Despite seeking bond afterward, the court continued to deny his request, and instead kept Appellant in jail without bond where he was available for trial until the State eventually called the case to trial on December 6, 2021. Under such conditions, Appellant was “not prosecuted with ordinary promptness;” rather, the interval between accusation and trial constituted a “presumptively prejudicial” delay. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 342-43, 794 S.E.2d at 372.

Further, when weighed among the delineated four factors necessary for analyzing a speedy trial violation, the circumstances of Appellant’s case militate in favor of Appellant. The first factor, length of delay, “is necessarily dependent upon the particular circumstances of the case.” Barker, 407 U.S. at 530-31, 92 S.Ct. at 2192. “To take but one example, the delay that can be tolerated for an ordinary street crime is considerably less than for a serious, complex conspiracy charge.” Id. 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S.Ct. at 2192. Here, Appellant was held in jail for over two years for what was literally a crime that allegedly occurred in the street. While serious, it was far less complex than many other cases. As Counsel succinctly stated, “[i]n this particular case, there is no evidence that has been received and no new evidence since June 17, 2020. The case at this time is now more like an ordinary street crime. It has become very straightforward with age.” R. 6, ll. 6-9. This assertion was born-out by the State’s witnesses at trial as well. No crime scene reconstruction expert testimony was submitted, and the only technical testimony came mostly from the following witnesses: the South Carolina Department of Vehicles records custodian to submit vehicle registration information;⁵ the Jasper County Emergency Services Coordinator to explain why 911 calls were not recorded;⁶ the DNA expert;⁷ and the pathologist to explain the manner of death.⁸ None of the evidence proffered by these witnesses necessitated such a substantial delay in calling Appellant’s case for trial. Accordingly, this factor weighs in favor of Appellant.

⁵ R. 239, ln. 15—R. 242, ln. 10.

⁶ R. 243, ln. 17—R. 248, ln. 19.

⁷ DNA analyst Timothy French indicated on cross-examination that he became involved with the case when the DNA samples he tested were brought to his lab on December 6, 2019. R. 479, ll. 2-6.

⁸ Dr. Susan Presnell performed the autopsy in this case at MUSC on October 28, 2019. R. 486, ll. 3-4.

Second, “[c]losely related to length of delay is the reason the government assigns to justify the delay.” Barker, 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S.Ct. at 2192. “A deliberate attempt to delay the trial in order to hamper the defense should be weighted heavily against the government.” Barker, 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S.Ct. at 2192. However, “A more neutral reason such as negligence or overcrowded courts should be weighted less heavily but nevertheless should be considered since the ultimate responsibility for such circumstances must rest with the government rather than with the defendant.” Id. Here, the State knowingly delayed Appellant’s case, even in face of the circuit court ordering it to be tried. For instance, when Appellant was again denied bond on February 11, 2021, the State was told by the Court to make an offer. When Appellant rejected the offer to plead guilty to the charged offense only days later and requested a trial, the State failed to place it on the trial docket. R. 7, ll. 10-20. Further, when a status conference was held in June 2021 and the State was instructed to place Appellant’s case on the docket for November 1, 2021, the State again failed to do so and in fact still failed to even indict the matter by then. R. 7, ll. 21-24; R. 63, ll. 10-19; R. 576-578. This outright rejection of the court’s scheduling order by refusing to even indict Appellant’s case, let alone calendar it for the term previously ordered by the court, should constitute intentional conduct as it reveals a deliberate attempt by the State to delay Appellant’s trial. Under such circumstances, the State’s repeated recalcitrance in the face of both Appellant’s demand for a jury trial and the court’s direction to do the same amounts to a deliberate attempt to delay Appellant’s trial, and weighs in favor of Appellant.

However, even if the State’s dilatory conduct is deemed negligent rather than intentional, it still weighs against the State and in favor of Appellant “since the ultimate responsibility for such circumstances must rest with the government rather than with the defendant.” Barker, 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S.Ct. at 2192. When pressed by the court, the State proffered the explanation that

Appellant's case was assigned to more than one prosecutor during its time matriculating in the Solicitor's Office; yet, the assistant solicitor prosecuting Appellant's case at trial in December 2021 indicated that she was also the prosecutor on the case when Appellant had his bond hearing February 11, 2021. R. 4, ll. 15-16; R. 9, ln. 22—R. 10, ln. 12; R. 66, ll. 21-23. Further, when Appellant sought dismissal pursuant to his speedy trial rights in both November and December 2021, the State recited its other excuse claiming, "a lot of circuits wait until the last minute to indict everything before they go to trial, so that's not actually out of the ordinary."⁹ R. 9, ll. 22-23; R. 66, ln. 23—R. 67, ln. 1. Under such circumstances, even if not "a deliberate attempt to delay the trial in order to hamper the defense," the State's conduct certainly amounts to negligence, and still weighs in favor of Appellant. Id.

⁹ The State's excuse on the record that "a lot of other circuits" wait until the last minute to indict and that it is "not out of the ordinary" is essentially an admission that it regularly violates Rule 3 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure:

(c) Action on Warrant. Within ninety (90) days after receipt of an arrest warrant from the Clerk of Court, the solicitor shall take action on the warrant by (1) preparing an indictment for presentment to the grand jury, which indictment shall be filed with the Clerk of Court, assigned a criminal case number, and presented to the Grand Jury; (2) formally dismissing the warrant, noting on the face of the warrant the action taken; or (3) making other affirmative disposition in writing and filing such action with the Clerk of Court.

(d) Extensions of Time. The solicitor may petition the circuit court for an order delaying action on the warrant, as set forth above, for successive ninety (90) day periods if the circuit court specifically finds good cause for such delay for each successive ninety day period.

Rule 3, SCRCrimP (c) and (d). Such excuses should not be countenanced by this or any court as acceptable. Simply stated, an excuse that is tantamount to saying "everyone else is doing it" does not make it right.

The third factor, assertion of the right to a speedy trial, likewise favors Appellant. Here, although a “defendant has no duty to bring himself to trial,” Appellant clearly asserted his right in February 2021, when he rejected the State’s offer to plead guilty to the charged offense, and instead demanded a trial. Barker, 407 U.S. at 527, 92 S.Ct. at 2190; R. 7, ll. 10-20; R. 65, ll. 6-12; R. 576-578. Appellant also brought the matter up during the June 2021 status conference, and again November 4, 2021, before the circuit court after the State failed to indict and try the case in the November 1, 2021 term. As indicated above, rather than accepting Appellant’s choice and scheduling the matter for trial, the State instead failed to calendar the case for multiple subsequent terms of court. As such, this factor too weighs in Appellant’s favor.

The fourth factor favors Appellant as well, as he was prejudiced by the State’s delay in prosecuting his case. “[U]nreasonable delay between formal accusation and trial threatens to produce more than one sort of harm, including ‘oppressive pretrial incarceration’ ‘anxiety and concern of the accused,’ and ‘the possibility that the [accused’s] defense will be impaired’ by dimming memories and loss of exculpatory evidence.” Doggett, 505 U.S. at 654, 112 S.Ct. at 2692 (quoting Barker, 407 U.S. at 532, 92 S.Ct. at 2193). As Counsel argued, Appellant had been held in jail for the entire pretrial time period despite the presumption of innocence. As a result, his life was put on hold and he could no longer support his wife and child, both of whom had to leave the country due to a lack of support.¹⁰ R. 66, ln. 13—R. 66, ln. 8; R. 388, ln. 24—R. 286, ln. 23; R. 576-578. Moreover, Appellant experienced extreme anxiety and damage to his reputation. He had no prior record, yet he sat in jail for an indeterminate amount of time despite an order from the court to try the matter. R. 6. ll. 24—R. 7, ln. 1; R. 63, ll. 5-6. Thus, two of

¹⁰ The record also indicates Appellant’s child is possibly an American citizen. R. 560, ll. 15-21; R. 563, ll. 22-24.

three recognized categories of prejudice—oppressive pretrial conditions, as well as anxiety and concern of the accused—weigh in favor of Appellant.

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