RECEIVED

Oct 27 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Jasper County
Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-001500

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

OSMAN UVALDO JIMENEZ BENITEZ,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 255-588

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Ultimately, once a speedy trial analysis has been triggered, the question of whether a defendant’s speedy trial rights have been violated is necessarily dependent on the specific circumstances of the defendant’s particular case. State v. Robinson, 335 S.C. 620, 625, 518 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 1999). When attempting to answer that question, several factors should be considered. State v. Kennedy, 339 S.C. 243, 249, 528 S.E.2d 700, 703-704 (Ct. App. 2000). Specifically, a court analyzing a speedy trial claim should consider: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the defendant’s assertion of his right; and (4) whether any prejudice was suffered by the defendant as a result of the delay. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530 (1972). Notably though, none of the four factors is alone necessary or sufficient for a finding of a speedy trial violation. Id. at 533. Instead, “they are related factors and must be considered together with such other circumstances as may be relevant.” Id. “In sum, these

factors have no talismanic qualities; courts must still engage in a difficult and sensitive balancing process.” Id.

In the case at bar, a period of roughly twenty-five months elapsed between Appellant’s November 2019 arrest in connection to Victim’s horrific death by mechanical asphyxia and his December 2021 trial related to that incident. Looking to that period of delay, it was likely sufficiently lengthy to warrant consideration of the relevant speedy trial factors. See id. at 530 (“Until there is some delay which is presumptively prejudicial, there is no necessity for inquiry into the other factors that go into the balance.”); Brazell, 325 S.C. at 75, 480 S.E.2d at 70 (recognizing the length of the delay may be sufficient to trigger review of the relevant speedy trial factors); cf. Waites, 270 S.C. at 108, 240 S.E.2d at 653 (finding a delay of twenty-eight months sufficient to warrant review of the pertinent factors in a speedy trial analysis). However, it was not excessively or unreasonably long in light of the unusual circumstances of Appellant’s case, which was particularly true given the fact the pendency of Appellant’s case largely coincided with an unexpected global pandemic. See United States v. Serna-Villarreal, 352 F.3d 225, 232 (5th Cir. 2003) (instructing courts conducting speedy trial analyses “generally have found presumed prejudice only in cases in which the post-indictment delay lasted at least five years”); cf. Elias v. Superior Ct., 294 Cal. Rptr. 3d 178, 190 (Cal. Ct. App. 2022) (“Courts have recognized that health quarantines to prevent the spread of infectious diseases have long been recognized as good cause for continuing a trial date. A contrary holding would require trial court personnel, jurors, and witnesses to be exposed to debilitating and perhaps life-threatening illness. Public health concerns trump the right to a speedy trial. We acknowledge the unfortunate hardship to defendant from the delays in this case, but . . . neither the prosecution nor the court is responsible for the emergency that has overwhelmed the nation and much of the world.”

(citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)). As a result, the length of the delay involved—the first of the relevant factors in a speedy trial analysis—did not and should not weigh heavily against the State for purposes of a speedy trial analysis.

Turning to the second of the relevant factors, some portion of the delay was incurred as part of the normal process involved in getting any criminal case ready to go to trial and could not legitimately be held against the State for speedy trial purposes. See Ratchford, 785 A.2d at 830 (explaining the initial seven-month period of time between the date of the arrest and the case initially being scheduled for trial was “necessary for the orderly administration of justice and is not considered an unreasonable delay that calls for further accounting”); see also State v. Smith, 307 S.C. 376, 380, 415 S.E.2d 409, 411 (Ct. App. 1992) (finding the defendant bears the burden of showing a speedy trial delay was due to the neglect and willfulness of the State’s prosecution). Similarly, some portion of the delay involved was caused by the solicitor and the defense engaging in good faith plea negotiations that were still ongoing until *at least* February of 2021. See Vermont v. Brillon, 556 U.S. 81, 92-93 (2009) (recognizing delays caused by defense counsel’s actions are attributable to the defendant and not the State when conducting a speedy trial analysis); see also State v. Dukes, 256 S.C. 218, 223, 182 S.E.2d 286, 288 (1971) (“The delay must be attributable to the State before the appellants can complain.”); cf. United States v. Anderson, 902 F.2d 1105, 1110 (2d Cir. 1990) (finding no speedy trial violation where “defense counsel agreed to delays and continuances for purposes of plea negotiations”); People v. Garcia, 822 N.Y.S.2d 322, 325 (N.Y. App. Div. 2006) (“Defendant’s attempts to negotiate a favorable preindictment plea may have contributed to the delay.”); People v. LoPizzo, 543 N.Y.S.2d 88, 88 (N.Y. App. Div. 1989) (rejecting a claim of a constitutional speedy trial violation when “[n]early all of the preindictment delay was directly attributable to the defendant’s repeated requests for

adjournments so that plea negotiations could be considered”). Furthermore, some of the delay was attributable to the global pandemic as reflected by defense counsel’s statement Appellant was willing—by February of 2021—to go to trial *as soon as trials resumed*, which was a circumstance entirely beyond the control of the solicitor, the court, and Appellant himself and was not something that could be fairly held against any party for purposes of a speedy trial analysis. See State v. Paige, 977 N.W.2d 829, 838 (Minn. 2022) (“[W]e conclude that trial delays due to the statewide orders issued in response to the COVID-19 global pandemic do not weigh against the State.”); Vlahos v. State, 518 P.3d 1057, 1072 (Wyo. 2022) (“Delays due to COVID-19 pandemic are neutral because the pandemic was an extraordinary circumstance not attributable to either the State or [the defendant].” (citation and internal quotations omitted)). Beyond that, some portion of the delay resulted from the need to reassign Appellant’s case to a new solicitor following staffing changes at the solicitor’s office, which was a period of delay that could only be held slightly against the State if it could fairly be held against the State at all. See Strunk v. United States, 412 U.S. 434, 436 (1973) (instructing factors leading to unintentional delays such as “understaffed prosecutors” should be weighed less heavily than intentional delays in a speedy trial analysis); Manix v. State, 895 So. 2d 167, 176 (Miss. 2005) (“The State’s discretion as to which prosecutor will try a particular case is a basic tenet of our criminal justice system. This Court has never held that the State’s replacement of prosecutors amounts to a speedy trial violation warranting a reversal of a criminal conviction. Therefore, this factor is slightly weighed against the State.”); Hallowell v. State, 178 A.3d 610, 628 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2018) (finding the resignation of the original prosecutor assigned to the case, which resulted in delays that were needed for a new prosecutor to get familiar with and prepare the case for trial, constituted a more neutral reason for delay in a speedy trial analysis and only weighed slightly

against the State). Meanwhile, to the extent Appellant complained—and continues to complain—about the solicitor’s failure to strictly comply with the ninety-day time period set out in Rule 3 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure for the preparation of the indictment, that failure in no way violated Appellant’s speedy trial rights or warranted dismissal. See State v. Culbreath, 282 S.C. 38, 39-40, 316 S.E.2d 681, 681 (1984) (“While the rule is designed to secure a prompt handling of cases, it was not intended to be the criterion for determining whether the constitutional guaranty of a speedy trial has been met. Therefore, the failure of the solicitor to act upon a warrant within ninety (90) days, as required by [what has now become Rule 3], does not within itself invalidate a warrant or prevent a subsequent prosecution.”); see also United States v. Baker, 424 F.2d 968, 970 (4th Cir. 1970) (“[A] mere showing of delay in indictment and arrest is not sufficient to show a constitutional violation[.]”); cf. State v. Edwards, 374 S.C. 543, 571-572, 649 S.E.2d 112, 126-127 (Ct. App. 2007) (affirming the trial judge’s denial of a motion to dismiss that was based on the fact over 800 days elapsed between when Edwards was arrested and indicted), rev’d on other grounds, 384 S.C. 504, 682 S.E.2d 820 (2009). Therefore, when considering the actual reasons underlying all the delay involved, the non-willful and non-intentional period of delay incurred prior to Appellant’s trial did not warrant a finding Appellant’s speedy trial rights were infringed.

Turning to the third of the relevant factors, Appellant unquestionably did request a speedy trial at some point, but, significantly, he waited to first formally do so until almost two full years after his arrest. See Waites, 270 S.C. at 109, 240 S.E.2d at 653 (considering the length of time Waites waited before first attempting to assert his speedy trial rights and characterizing it as “significant” when conducting a speedy trial analysis); see also Arnett v. State, 551 So. 2d 1158, 1160 (Ala. Crim. App. 1989) (instructing “the fact that [the defendant] waited over one

year to assert his rights weighs heavily against him” in a speedy trial analysis and further instructing a defendant “cannot delay the assertion of his rights for as long as possible and then claim he was harmed by the delay”). Meanwhile, his informal expression of a willingness to go to trial in February of 2021 was not synonymous with an actual request for a speedy trial, and, even if it somehow was, it came at a point in time when jury trials were not capable of being conducted due to the global pandemic. Cf. Osman v. Commonwealth, 883 S.E.2d 249, 277 (Va. Ct. App. 2023) (“[T]he third Barker factor—assertion of the right to a speedy trial—weighs only moderately in [Osman]’s favor due to the timing and frequency of his assertions. Despite having already spent sixteen months in jail, [Osman] did not assert his right to a speedy trial until March 25, 2020, only after the Supreme Court issued its first emergency order and the trial court administratively adjourned this case to a status date on May 21, 2020, in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic.”). And, notably, Appellant’s case was brought to trial just over *one month* after he first formally requested a speedy trial. See State v. Barnes, 431 S.C. 66, 88, 846 S.E.2d 389, 400 (Ct. App. 2020) (finding the factor related to the assertion of speedy trial rights weighed against Barnes because he did not assert his speedy trial rights after his case was sent back for a retrial until just two months before his second trial was set to commence), aff’d as modified, 436 S.C. 202, 871 S.E.2d 421 (2022); cf. Robinson, 335 S.C. at 626, 518 S.E.2d at 272 (considering the fact “Robinson’s trial began only ten months after his first motion [asserting his right to a speedy trial] was filed” in finding no speedy trial violation occurred in Robinson’s case). Thus, considering the delayed nature of Appellant’s first formal request for a speedy trial, and his prompt receipt of a trial shortly after he made that request, Appellant’s assertion of his speedy trial rights did not weigh heavily in his favor and could not have legitimately supported a finding those rights were violated.

Finally, turning to the fourth of the relevant factors, Appellant's claims of prejudice were primarily focused on his pre-trial incarceration, his purported anxiety, the fact his wife and child were supposedly forced to leave the country, and the loss or unavailability of purported witnesses. Importantly though, Appellant's incarceration prior to trial was largely unavoidable due to the fact he was subject to an immigration detainer and deemed a flight risk, which greatly diminished the significance of that particular assertion of prejudice. Cf. People v. Catalan, 166 N.Y.S.3d 405, 409 (N.Y. App. Div. 2022) (explaining Catalan's liberty interest "was not impacted" by his pre-trial incarceration from arrest to trial for purposes of a speedy trial analysis since "there was an immigration detainer lodged against him"). Relatedly, although Appellant remained incarcerated from his arrest until trial, Appellant did, in fact, receive full credit toward his sentence for *all* the time he was in pre-trial custody, which helped to minimize any harm that could have possibly resulted from the delay in his case. Cf. Millard v. Lynaugh, 810 F.2d 1403, 1406-1407 (5th Cir. 1987) (concluding the prejudice resulting from pre-trial incarceration was mitigating by the fact Millard received credit for the time served in pre-trial detention toward his sentence); State v. Monroe, 262 S.C. 346, 350, 204 S.E.2d 433, 435 (1974) (considering the fact Monroe received full credit for the time he spent incarcerated prior to his trial in finding his speedy trial rights were not violated). Meanwhile, to the extent Appellant has alleged anxiety from his pre-trial incarceration, Appellant did not identify any undue or unusual factors involved in that incarceration, which undermined the significance of that identified harm for purposes of a speedy trial analysis. See United States v. Henson, 945 F.2d 430, 438 (1st Cir. 1991) (explaining "considerable anxiety normally attends the initiation and pendency of criminal charges" and, as a result, only undue pressures are considered when conducting a speedy trial analysis); Langford, 400 S.C. at 445, 735 S.E.2d at 484 ("While we are cognizant of not minimizing the deleterious

effects of lengthy pre-trial incarceration, the two-year delay in bringing this case to trial does not amount to a constitutional violation in the absence of any actual prejudice to Langford’s case.”). Furthermore, although defense counsel claimed some witnesses were supposedly lost due to the passage of time, no specific information of any kind was provided about those witnesses or the nature of their expected testimony, which prevented any meaningful assessment of prejudice as far as those alleged witnesses were concerned. See Smith, 307 S.C. at 381, 415 S.E.2d at 412 (recognizing it is not possible to determine whether prejudice occurred due to the unavailability of a witness when no proffer was made as to what the witness’s testimony would have been); cf. Waites, 270 S.C. at 109, 240 S.E.2d at 654 (instructing Waites’s “bare assertion of prejudice because his principal witness moved to another state is insufficient to warrant the lower court’s conclusion that respondent suffered actual prejudice thereby”). Likewise, defense counsel’s pre-trial claims regarding Appellant’s wife and child being forced to leave the country were subsequently contradicted by defense counsel’s later acknowledgement the two were, in fact, still there at the time of Appellant’s trial, which meant Appellant did not actually experience the prejudice he claimed to have experienced in connection to his immediate family.¹¹ See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-316, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (explaining an issue conceded at trial cannot be asserted later on appeal). Finally, to the extent Appellant alleged he was prejudiced due to fading memories, such issues appeared to hamper the State more than the defense and, thus, did not truly prejudice Appellant.¹² See Robinson, 335 S.C. at 626, 518 S.E.2d at 272

¹¹ Puzzlingly, despite defense counsel’s acknowledgment during trial Appellant’s “wife is here,” Appellant—for the first time on appeal—suggests his wife very well may have been one of the defense witnesses that was supposedly missing and unavailable. (R. pp. 560-561; App. Br. p. 14).

¹² Notably, defense counsel suggested during trial Berdugo’s memory issues were present *at the time of his interviews with law enforcement* shortly after Victim was killed and heavily relied

(“[L]ost witnesses and documents are also disadvantages that hamper the State.”); cf. Smith, 307 S.C. at 381, 415 S.E.2d at 412 (“His argument that he was prejudiced because his witnesses’ memories faded also lacks merit because the same disadvantage hampered the State.”).

Therefore, because Appellant’s defense was not truly hampered by any of the delay and because he did not suffer any undue prejudice as a result of the delay, Appellant was not sufficiently prejudiced by the delay between his arrest and trial to justify a finding his constitutional speedy trial rights were violated.

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